FILED

OCT 12 2016

WASHINGTON STATE
SUPREME COURT

FILED

Sep 30, 2016

Court of Appeals

Division III

State of Washington

COURT OF APPEALS No. 328660-III

93707-9

IN THE SUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

State of Washington, Respondent

v.

DANIEL BLIZZARD, Defendant/Petitioner

MOTION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Peter Mazzone, WSBA 25262
Attorney for Petitioner
3002 Colby Avenue, Suite 302
(425) 259-4989 - phone

Peter Connick, WSBA 12560
Attorney for Petitioner
80 Yesler Way # 320, Seattle, WA 98104
(206) 624-5958 - phone

A. Identity of the Petitioner

The Petitioner is Daniel Blizzard.

B. Decision Below

On September 1, 2016, the Court of Appeals, Division Three affirmed Mr. Blizzard's criminal conviction in a published opinion, No. 32866-0-III (herein after referred to as "the opinion below"). The opinion is included in Appendix 1. No motion for reconsideration was filed.

Appellant submits this timely motion for discretionary review to the honorable Supreme Court of the State of Washington.

C. Issues Presented for Review

1. As a matter of first impression, does the prosecutor's attempt to remove an elected trial judge from a pending case on the eve of important legal rulings violate the separation of powers?
2. As a matter of first impression, can a prosecutor's unethical "political" and "professional" attacks on a trial judge's integrity damage the structural fairness of a criminal trial?
3. As a matter of first impression, should evidence obtained by executing an illegal warrant, but not formally recorded in a warrant return, be suppressed?
4. Is it time to reconsider the permissive "ministerial" approach to warrant illegalities?
5. Does the same harmless "beyond a reasonable doubt" standard that applies to attorney-client communications seized post-trial also apply to those seized pre-trial?
6. If a writing itself is inadmissible for lack of foundation, is testimony about the content of the writing also inadmissible?

D. Statement of the Case

A series of errors denied Daniel Blizzard the right to a fair trial. The

problems began early, with a series of illegal warrants resulting in the seizure of circumstantial evidence. 4/28/14 VRP 312-320.¹ The warrants were originally issued by a District Court to out-of-state recipients, and thus without jurisdiction. CP 3278, Conclusion of Law (CL) 4; Appendix 2, Appendix 3. When that error was discovered, the warrants were re-issued by a Superior Court, but this time without the notice provisions required by RCW 10.96.020. CP 3277, Finding of Fact (FF) 23; Appendix 4.²

During the nine months between seizure of evidence under the illegal District Court warrants and finalization of the Superior Court warrants, CP 3277, FF 25, law enforcement supplemented the supporting affidavits of probable cause repeatedly, including information obtained by the illegal District Court warrants.³ For example, the affidavit supporting the Superior Court warrants assert that Mr. Blizzard's phone records were held by the "GOGII" telecommunications corporation. CP 751, Appendix 4. However, GOGII's involvement in the case was entirely unknown to law enforcement until after the State served the illegal District Court warrants on "Level 3," the telecommunications corporation originally thought to hold Mr. Blizzard's records. See CP 647, Appendix 2. When law enforcement called Level 3 to execute the warrant, officers inquired why it

¹ Cites to the record, with respect to the Verbatim Report of Proceedings (VRP), are included throughout this briefing with the date (e.g. 4/28/14) followed by the specific VRP page number (e.g. 312-320).

² The unlawful District Court warrants, including the affidavits, to Level III communications and GOGII are included in Appendix 2 (CP 642-650) and 3 (CP 672-680) respectively. The warrant and affidavit to the Superior Court is included in Appendix 4 (CP 744-753). Whenever cited in the brief, the warrants are denoted by their original CP page numbers along with their corresponding Appendix. For example, CP 647, Appendix 2 denotes the 6th page of the Level III communications warrant included in Appendix 2, etc.

³ Compare, for example, Appendix 2, Appendix 3 and Appendix 4.

had not complied with the illegal District Court warrant. In replying, Level 3 disclosed that Mr. Blizzard's phone line had been sold to GOGII. CP 3276. Law enforcement never submitted a subsequent Superior Court warrant to Level 3 to cure the taint on the disclosure of GOGII's role; the corrected warrant was instead sent directly to GOGII. Appendix 4.

Before trial began, the State also seized Mr. Blizzard's attorney-client communications, including confidential defense investigative memos and Mr. Blizzard's personal copy of discovery containing handwritten notes about witnesses and ideas for his attorney. CP 3282-85. The State kept some of these protected materials for months on top of an unsecured desk, a location where "officers, or anyone else who was at the desk, could potentially have access to the documents and read them," CP 3285-3288. The prosecuting attorney knew about this seizure, directed that the materials not be returned to Mr. Blizzard, and never disclosed the incident to Mr. Blizzard's attorney, CP 3284-3286.

Mr. Blizzard filed several pre-trial motions seeking relief for the aforementioned issues, as well as for discovery violations regarding the State's failure to comply with the trial court's order to narrow 30,000 pages of text messages seized under the illegal warrants. CP 197-205; 922-934; 968-981; 1134-1135. Unfortunately, three court days before the trial judge was scheduled to rule on those motions, the elected Yakima County Prosecuting Attorney delivered a letter (Appendix 5) to the presiding judge of the Superior Court containing sweeping, untrue, and dismaying allegations against the trial judge. The letter contained complaints specific

to Mr. Blizzard's case, his counsel, unrelated cases involving his counsel, and a long series of assertions about the trial judge's alleged incompetence and misconduct over a period of years, including that the trial judge:

- made "untrue allegations" about the State, CP 835; Appendix 5.⁴
- "bent over backwards" to help the defense, CP 834; Appendix 5.
- "exceeded the bounds of appropriate judicial conduct," CP 835; Appendix 5; and
- "overstep[ped] her authority," CP 835; Appendix 5.

The letter asked the criminal presiding judge to "remove [the trial judge] from these [serious homicide] cases in the interest of fairness and justice," CP 836; Appendix 5 at 4.

The trial judge herself described the letter as "outrageous," 6/9/13 VRP 569, "*filled with potential intimidation on this bench*," 5/28/16 VRP 463 (emphasis added),⁵ and obvious "prosecutorial misconduct," 6/9/14 VRP 556⁶. Ultimately, she expressly concluded that the letter was an attempt to corrupt the integrity of the trial. 6/9/14 VRP 569. The trial court treated the letter as a motion for recusal, which was later abandoned by the State and never endorsed by Mr. Blizzard. 6/9/14 VRP 558-561; 569. After

⁴ The prosecutor's letter to the criminal presiding judge consisted of 4 pages (CP 833-CP 836). Individual pages of the letter are cited with their original CP page numbers throughout this briefing. Hence CP 835, App. 5, denotes the third page of the letter as presented in Appendix 5.

⁵ The suspicious timing of the letter, delivered just three court days before the trial court was scheduled to rule on the defense motion to suppress the text messages because of the warrant irregularities, was not lost on the trial court. 5/28/14, VRP 460; 6/9/14 VRP 574.

⁶ "I want to make this record absolutely clear that [the elected prosecutor's] letter constitutes prosecutorial misconduct. There is absolutely no doubt that this was ex-parte communication with the trial judge in a pending matter that is prohibited by Rule of Professional Conduct, 3.5. For the State to suggest otherwise is, worst case scenario, disingenuous or, best case, naïve." 6/9/14 VRP 566.

extensive briefing and argument about the legal implications of the prosecutor's letter by all parties, the trial judge elected to not recuse herself. Part of her reasoning was that recusal would require further violation of the right to timely trial. 6/9/14 VRP 569.

Interestingly, before receiving the letter, the trial judge expressed a substantial degree of skepticism toward the State's arguments,⁷ particularly regarding warrant suppression. 4/28/14 VRP 412. After receiving the letter, this skepticism evaporated,⁸ Mr. Blizzard's motions were denied, and the text messages were held admissible. 6/9/16 VRP 643.

At trial, the text messages, already subject to the GOGII-warrant taint and discovery objections, were conditionally admitted through testimony on the State's promise to lay adequate foundation for their admission. 9/4/14 VRP 1906-1907; 1913; 1919-1921; 1925-1942; 1970-1986; 9/8/2014 VRP 2338-2350; 9/9/14 VRP 2618-2622; 9/9/2014 VRP 2616-2622. The State failed to do so, and the text messages were not admitted. However, the jury was not admonished to disregard the related testimony. 9/11/2014 VRP 2998-3003.

⁷ Originally, the trial court was adamant that specific information about "GOGII" was obtained as a result of the issuance of the illegal District Court warrants: "I guess, I just don't know how [the State] get[s] around GOGII. I'm going to be blunt. I keep going in a circular way in my head as to how [the State] get[s] GOGII in the mix because that information came from the district court warrants that were not properly issued. That information would not have been known if it hadn't been received from those [illegal] warrants . . . [The Level 3 phone call occurred because Level 3 was] not complying with the warrant request. . . . Do you see what I'm saying?" 4/28/14 VRP 412-13. Also: 4/28/14 VRP 357, 360-65, 379, 406-08.

⁸ The trial court reversed itself, finding that the "GOGII" information *resulted not from the illegal warrant*, but rather *from a phone call about the illegal warrant*: "Following that information he had received directly – this is where it gets dicey – not pursuant to actual information obtained from the warrant itself. I appreciate there is a connection there." 6/9/16 VRP 643.

E. ARGUMENT

Review Should be Granted

This case cries out for review. The opinion below is irreconcilable with several decisions of this Court and of the Court of Appeals, RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2), and *raises significant new questions about the separation of powers, prosecutorial misconduct in the form of an attempt to remove an elected judge from a pending case and influence its outcome, and the judicial branch's capacity to guarantee a fair trial in the face of heavy-handed pressure from the executive branch*, RAP 13.4(3)-(4). The errors in the opinion below are numerous, significant, and impact core constitutional principles, including the warrant requirement and the right to counsel.

1. **The opinion below should be reversed because it allows prosecutors to attack judges in hopes of influencing the outcome of a case, substantially undermining the separation of powers doctrine, and narrows the holding of Zylstra v. Piva, 85 Wn.2d 743, 539 P.2d 823 (1975).**

The Washington Constitution vests the judicial power in an independent branch of government. Article IV, Section 1; Washington State Bar Ass'n v. State, 125 Wn.2d 901, 906, 890 P.2d 1047 (1995). This arrangement “preserves the constitutional division between the three branches of government” so that the activities of one branch do not “threaten or invade the prerogatives of another.” Hale v. In re Estate of Hambleton, 181 Wn.2d 802, 817, 335 P.3d 398 (2014).⁹

⁹ Also see Wellpinit School Dist. No. 49, 165 Wn.2d 494, 198 P.3d 1021 (2009); Carrick v. Locke, 125 Wn.2d 129, 135, 882 P.2d 173 (1994); State v. Elmore, 154 Wn.App. 885, 905, 228 P.3d 760 (2010).

In breezing past the separation of powers violation implicated by the prosecutor's letter, the opinion below summarily holds that the letter could:

“only implicate separation of powers if it was so powerful and divisive that it had the capacity to threaten the judge's independence.”

App. 1 at 5.¹⁰ The only authority offered in support of this holding was Zylstra v. Piva, 85 Wn.2d 743, 539 P.2d 823 (1975), a case that cannot be reconciled with the opinion below in letter or spirit.

In Zylstra, this Court addressed the question of whether juvenile court staff, who are hired and fired by juvenile court judges but compensated by the county, are executive branch employees for purposes of collective bargaining. Id. Holding that the employees have a “dual status” that does not violate the separation of powers, the Court explained:

Harmonious cooperation among the three branches is fundamental to our system of government. Only if this cooperation breaks down is it necessary for the judiciary to exercise inherent power to sustain its separate integrity. . . . The question to be asked is . . . whether the activity of one branch *threatens the independence or integrity or invades the prerogatives* of another. We can find no such encroachment, actual or threatened, in permitting these employees to bargain on the question of wages.

Id. at 750. Thus, when cooperation between the branches occasionally fails, each branch is entitled to three degrees of separation: independence, integrity, and sovereign prerogatives. Id.

The case now before the Court illustrates the distinct characteristics

¹⁰ The opinion below seemed entirely satisfied that the trial judge “volunteered” that she could be impartial despite the prosecutor's letter. App.1 at 8, fn. 6. However, vindication of the separation of powers cannot wait until the moment a judge admits that she does not feel free to act independently; that moment is far too late to preserve a free government.

and utility of each degree. First, “independence” should be understood to mean the freedom of the branch to operate beyond the influence of the others. Here, for example, the prosecutor violated the trial judge’s “independence” by asking that she be removed from this and other criminal cases. Thus, the prosecutor threatened the trial judge’s institutional “independence.”

Second, “integrity” should be understood to mean the customary decorum and professionalism due to the branch, an especially essential element in the adversarial conditions over which the judiciary presides. Here, the prosecutor attacked the trial judge’s personal integrity, professional integrity, her judgment, and her legal intelligence. CP 834-835, Appendix. 5. The prosecutor not only threatened, but outright assaulted, the trial judge’s institutional “integrity.” (App. 5).

Third, sovereign “prerogatives” should be understood to mean the powers which the Constitution vests in the institution. Making decisions in a legal case is trial judge’s constitutional prerogative. Wa. Const. Art. IV, Sec. 1, 6, and 20. Here, the prosecutor’s timing and message were not the only evidence of his intent to influence the trial judge’s decision-making: the letter was not addressed privately to the judge. Rather, it was sent under official letterhead to the criminal presiding judge, CP 833, Appendix 5; a decision certain to result in broadest notoriety within the local legal community. Thus, the prosecutor attempted to either influence or punish the trial judge’s institutional “prerogative.”

2. The Court should reverse the opinion below because it denies

the obvious: unethical “political” and “professional” attacks on a judge’s integrity can undermine the fairness of a trial.

The opinion below categorically denies the possibility that “political” or “professional” attacks on a judge’s integrity can cause “structural error” to the fairness of a trial because: 1) “Professional criticisms, *no matter how inaccurate or improper*, do not meet [the] standard [for creating impermissible judicial bias],” App. 1 at 10; and 2) “The judiciary *is not vulnerable* to manipulation by politically charged criticism,” App.1 at 1. The opinion below does not offer an explanation for why these statements might be true in practice, or answer any of the obvious questions they raise,¹¹ and instead cite a general rule prohibiting judges from being “swayed by public clamor, or fear of criticism.” App. 1 at 10.

The opinion below relied on Ungar v. Sarafite, 376 U.S. 575; 11 L.Ed. 2d 921; 84 S.Ct. 841 (1964) an analogous case in which the potential bias was caused by a party’s misconduct. However, Ungar is in direct conflict with the opinion below. Ungar holds that a party’s recalcitrance or disobedience would not automatically implicate judicial bias, but a party’s “insulting attack” upon a judge’s “integrity” could. Unger, 376 U.S. at 584. Most importantly, Unger does not rest on a distinction between “personal” and “professional/political” criticisms. Id. at 584.¹² Rather, it credits the

¹¹ Is an attack “professional” in nature merely because it superficially addresses a person’s job performance? Is an attack “political” in nature merely because it is hurled by an elected official? Are “professional/political” attacks mutually exclusive of “personal” ones? Do the facts (the severity, scope, timing, and source of the attack) matter? For example, are “professional” criticisms, especially for life-long professionals (such as judges), potentially more predictive of bias than criticisms about “personal” characteristics (about which a judge may have no concern)? Are attacks on a person’s “professional” reputation, and thereby indirectly on the person’s livelihood, more predictive of structural error?

¹² Mr. Ungar, a resistant lawyer-witness, claimed his constitutional rights to a fair hearing

threat that an “insulting attack” on a judge’s “professional” qualifications pose on the right to a fair trial.

The “personal” v. “professional/political” paradigm outlined in the opinion below sets a terrible precedent for several reasons. First, it limits a judge’s ability to respond: if a judge is “invulnerable” to such slander, then such slander is not cause to take remedial action. Second, it is an idealistic expression which certainly describes our best judges, but does nothing to functionally protect the right to a fair trial under less-than-ideal circumstances. “Structural error” analysis must be more than inspirational.

Structural errors defy harmless error review because they are “defects in constitution of the trial mechanism.” Arizona v. Fulminante, 499 U.S. 279, 309-310, 11 S.Ct. 1246, 113 L.Ed.2d 302 (1991).¹³ This Court recently explained that the common denominator of all structural errors is that they infect myriad aspects of trial, making it nearly impossible to assess how and whether the errors affected the outcome of the case. State v. Frawley, 181 Wn.2d 452, 480, 334 P.3d 1022 (2014). Significantly, the trial court in the instant case recognized the structural nature of the dilemma it faced:

were violated because his contemptuous remarks were a personal attack on the judge which necessarily, and without more, biased and disqualified the judge from presiding over the subsequent contempt proceedings.

¹³ These errors taint the entire proceeding but their specific prejudicial consequences are “necessarily unquantifiable and indeterminate.” Sullivan v. Louisiana, 508 U.S. 275, 282, 113 S.Ct. 2078, 124 L.Ed.2d 182 (1993). The cases in which the Supreme Court has deemed errors structural include a biased trial judge. Tumey v. Ohio, 273 U.S. 510, 535, 47 S.Ct. 437, 71 L.Ed. 749 (1927); See also Neder v. United States, 527 U.S. 1, 8, 119 S.Ct. 1827, 144 L.Ed.2d 35 (1999) (citing Tumey, 273 U.S. 510, “biased trial judge” as example of structural error regarding “automatic reversal”); Johnson v. United States, 520 U.S. 461, 468, 117 S.Ct. 1544, 137 L.Ed.2d 718 (1997)(lack of an impartial judge).

The other unfortunate reality today, [is] . . . that regardless of what my ruling is in this case, it has been set up to fail. Because if I, applying the law to the facts and in that way decide the suppression motions and rule in favor of the defendants in this matter, then the state can simply say, see; we told you so. She's obviously prejudiced and biased against us and has proven it once again. . . . It leaves the question mark in the defendants' minds, if I rule against them today, as to whether I am giving into the perceived pressure So truly, the minute the letter was delivered on Friday, this particular scenario has been created . . .

5/28/14 VRP 462-63. As Mr. Blizzard's attorney succinctly described the trial judge's options, "you're damned if you do and dammed if you don't," 5/28/14 VRP 489, an apt definition of structural error. If a prosecutor's misconduct puts a judge in this position, whether by "professional" insults or "personal" ones, then the proceeding is structurally damaged.

a. The opinion below should be reversed because it fails to remedy a prosecutor's intentional violation of the separation of powers; a "head-in-the-sand" response invites future attacks on the judiciary and the right to a fair trial.

The opinion below expresses the view that providing a remedy to the prosecutor's letter is a cure worse than the disease:

A rule requiring recusal in cases such as Mr. Blizzard's would enable the executive to manipulate the judiciary and force future recusals at virtually any juncture by simply hurling politically charged attacks.

App. 1 at 10-11. In other words, the judiciary does more to protect itself from executive overreach by ignoring such unmistakable violations.

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