RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON CLERK'S OFFICE

Dec 15, 2016, 10:15 am

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

No. 93707-9

COA 328660-III

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

v.

DANIEL BLIZZARD, Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Tamara A. Hanlon, WSBA #28345 Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Respondent

JOSEPH BRUSIC Yakima County Prosecuting Attorney 128 N. 2d St. Rm. 329 Yakima, WA 98901-2621

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

The trial judge sent the letter to the trial prosecutor and defense attorney in this case, and then filed the letter with the clerk. CP 831-836. Thereafter, the State quickly filed a notice of abandonment of the motion for recusal of judge. CP 909-10. The lead prosecutor on the case stated in

the notice, "The Deputy Prosecuting Attorney, Alvin Guzman, believes a fair trial can be had before Judge Reukauf in the above captioned case." CP 910. The State, without a doubt, abandoned its motion for recusal of the trial judge. Nonetheless, the trial judge went on to make an independent decision that she was not going to voluntarily recuse and made a thorough record as to her decision. RP 569.

Blizzard did not object to her decision. A litigant who proceeds to trial "knowing of a reason for potential disqualification of the judge waives the objection and cannot challenge the court's qualifications on appeal." *State v. Perala*, 132 Wn. App. 98, 113, 130 P.3d 853 (2006). Furthermore, Blizzard made no motion for recusal. In fact, he specifically argued to the contrary. He stated, "So it is my opinion that there is no need -- there is no evidence. There is no supporting documents. There's nothing to suggest that this court should recuse itself." RP 493. Because he agreed that there was no basis for recusal, Blizzard waived any objection and was precluded from later challenging the court's qualifications on appeal.

Even without an objection, there was no independent basis for the trial judge to recuse herself. Due process, the appearance of fairness, and Canon 3(D)(1) of the Code of Judicial Conduct require disqualification of a judge who is biased against a party or whose impartiality may be

reasonably questioned. *State v. Perala*, 132 Wn. App. 98, 110-11, 130 P.3d 853 (2006). Recusal lies within the discretion of the trial judge, and his or her decision will not be disturbed without a clear showing of an abuse of that discretion. *Id.* at 111. The court abuses its discretion when its decision is manifestly unreasonable or is exercised on untenable grounds or for untenable reasons. *Id.*

"Under the appearance of fairness doctrine, a judicial proceeding is valid only if a reasonably prudent and disinterested observer would conclude that all parties obtained a fair, impartial, and neutral hearing."

Id. at 113. In order to establish that the trial court's involvement in the matter violated the appearance of fairness, the claimant must provide some evidence of the judge's actual or potential bias. State v. Post, 118 Wn.2d 596, 619, 826 P.2d 172 (1992). The critical concern is determining whether a proceeding would appear to be fair to a reasonably prudent and disinterested person. Perala, 132 Wn. App. at 113. The test for determining whether the judge's impartiality might reasonably be questioned is an objective test that assumes that a reasonable person knows and understands all the relevant facts. Sherman v. State, 128 Wn.2d 164, 206, 905 P.2d 355 (1995).

Here, Blizzard provided no evidence of the judge's actual or potential bias as required by *Post*. Furthermore, there was no independent

basis for the trial judge to recuse herself. The trial judge was very clear that she felt that she could be fair and impartial on the case:

I have absolutely no question in my mind that I can continue to be fair and impartial in this case. I have absolutely no question in my mind that I have been fair and impartial on this case.

RP 496. After making that declaration in open court, she followed up by reviewing the Code of Judicial Conduct and consulting with the Ethics Advisory Committee through the Administrative Office of the Courts. RP 497, 499. The trial judge then explained that if a motion for recusal is being made that it needs to be done so in writing. RP 501. However, no motions were filed by anyone, including Blizzard. Accordingly, the court concluded that the issue had been taken off of the table. RP 518.

Blizzard claims that the court's opinion narrows the holding of *Zylstra v. Piva*, 85 Wn.2d 743, 539 P.2d 823 (1975). The holding in that case was that the doctrine of separation of powers does not create exclusive spheres of competence in each branch and was never intended to. 85 Wn.2d at 750-1. In *Zylstra* the court found that by allowing court employees to bargain on wages, no branch threatened the independence or integrity of any other branch. *Id.* Further, no branch invaded the prerogatives of any other branch. *Id.* The Blizzard opinion did nothing to

change or narrow that holding. The record was clear that that trial judge's independence was not threatened by the prosecutor's letter.

2. The Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the trial court's rulings on challenges made to the search warrants in this case.

Under RCW 10.96.060, only a Superior Court judge may issue a warrant to recipients outside of the State of Washington. In this case, Detective Perrault obtained phone records by way of an exigent circumstances form and then warrants signed by a District Court judge. CP 3274-6. When he realized that he needed a Superior Court judge to sign the warrants, he redid the affidavits and warrants. CP 3276. At trial, Blizzard made a motion to suppress the warrants, claiming that the phone records obtained were pursuant to invalid warrants. The court found that the independent source doctrine applies and denied the motion to suppress. CP 3279.

The independent source doctrine is a "well-established exception to the exclusionary rule." *State v. Miles*, 159 Wn. App. 282, 291, 244 P.3d 1030 (2011). Under that exception, "an unlawful search does not invalidate a subsequent search if (1) the issuance of the search warrant is based on untainted, independently obtained information and (2) the State's decision to seek the warrant is not motivated by the previous unlawful search and seizure." *Miles*, 159 Wn. App. at 285.

Blizzard argues that the independent source doctrine does not apply because the lawful seizure pursuant to a Superior Court warrant was not independent from the earlier District Court warrant. Appellant's Brief at 41. He points to information that was added to the affidavits presented in Superior Court, specifically, the name of the specific carrier possessing the cell phone records and text messages for Blizzard's phone.

Appellant's Brief at 40.¹ However, as the Court of Appeals pointed out, this new information was leaned through a series of phone calls to cell phone company representatives. It was not obtained by reviewing search warrant returns or obtained by exploiting the existence of the invalidly issued warrants.

Blizzard also claimed that the Superior Court warrants were deficient in that they omitted some language required by RCW 10.96.020. In this case, notice of a 20-day deadline to respond was omitted from the warrants. CP 3277. The trial court concluded that this did not invalidate the warrants because the provision was for the benefit of the out-of-state company holding the records in that it provided for more time to respond. RP 639-40, CP 3280. The court further held that there was no evidence

1

¹ That part of the Superior Court affidavit stated, "However, a representative from Level 3 later told me that the number had been sold to GOGII, Inc." This was information learned after the warrants has been issued by District Court. CP 3276.

that the companies needed more time, and that they simply provided the same records that they had provided previously. RP 640, CP 3280.

This is consistent with caselaw on how to interpret search warrants. "The crucial test of a search warrant is its basis in probable cause, not its hypertechnical adherence to a particular form." *See State v. Kuberka*, 35 Wn. App. 909, 911-12, 671 P.2d 260 (1983). Courts test and interpret a search warrant "in a commonsense, practical manner, rather than in a hypertechnical sense." *State v. Perone*, 119 Wash. 2d 538, 549. 834 P.2d 611 (1992). The requirement to provide a timeframe to the recipient is a benefit to the party seeking the warrant – in this case, the State. The purpose is so that the company responds within 20 days, and does not delay compliance. This rule is similarly, ministerial in nature. Furthermore, there has been no showing that omission of this language from the warrant caused any prejudice to Blizzard. As such, the trial court correctly denied his motion to suppress on this ground.

3. The Court of Appeals did not err in finding dismissal unwarranted where the seizure of documents in the jail neither benefitted the State nor prejudiced the defense.

On March 27, 2014, the defense also filed a CrR 8.3(b) motion to dismiss, claiming that jail staff intercepted and viewed attorney-client mail. CP 197. The State filed a response in opposition to the motion, and supporting declarations from jail personnel, as well as the lead detective

and prosecutor. CP 338-404. A hearing was held and numerous jail officers testified, as well as the lead detective. RP 924-1090. The testimony at the hearing showed that a discovery packet was confiscated from Blizzard's cell when corrections officers were searching for a "shank" or homemade knife in Blizzard's unit. RP 929. Discovery packets were not allowed in jail cells due to safety concerns. RP 1089. The packets are allowed to be kept in a particular spot on the officer's desk. RP 999.

The court denied the defense motion to dismiss and ordered that the discovery materials go back to the defense attorney. RP 1207, CP 1085. The court reasoned that there was a legitimate safety reason for searching Blizzard's jail cell (to locate a weapon), and that no information was gained from the search. CP 1202-4. The court further found that the State was not given an unfair advantage, and that there was no implication that Blizzard's confidence in his attorney was destroyed. RP 1205-6.

Blizzard claims on appeal that attorney client communications were intercepted. Appellant's Brief at 46. However, this was not a case involving attorney-client communications or attorney-client mail. It was a packet of discovery with some notes on it that had been made by Blizzard. Appellant's Brief at 47. The court noted that there were eight or nine

pages of discovery that had notes on them and that they were not extensive. RP 1205.

Blizzard also claims that there was a close examination of his discovery. Appellant's Brief at 52. This was also not the case. The court found the testimony of Lieutenant Keagle to be credible. RP 1203. She testified that she did not read the discovery or the notes. RP 1203. The court noted that she was the only person who could have had the opportunity to do so. RP 1203. Furthermore, following the search, nothing was provided to the prosecutor's office or to the detectives on Blizzard's case. RP 1011-2, 1085, 1203.

Blizzard claims that the court should have found prejudice.

However, the court went through all the factors from *State v. Fuentes*, 179
Wn.2d 808, 820, 318 P.3d 257 (2014). RP 1181-1208. A trial court's
decision to dismiss an action based on *State v. Cory* and under CrR 8.3(b)
is reviewed for abuse of the court's discretion. *State v. Starrish*, 86 Wn.2d
200, 209, 544 P.2d 1 (1975). Blizzard has not persuasively explained how
the trial court in this case abused its discretion. This was not a case of
eavesdropping or a purposeful intrusion into the attorney-client
relationship. Furthermore, there was no prejudice to Blizzard as no one
read his notes or conveyed anything to the Sheriff's office or prosecutors.

As such, this case is factually dissimilar from the ones cited by Blizzard, *State v. Granacki*, 90 Wn.App. 598, 959 P.2d 667 (1998), and *State v. Cory*, 62 Wn.2d 371, 382 P.2d 1019 (1963). *Granacki* involved a detective reading defense counsel's notes during a trial recess. 90 Wn.App. at 598. *Cory* involved the State eavesdropping via microphone on conversations between prisoners in the jail and their attorneys. 62 Wn.2d at 372. Here, the only thing shown at the hearing was that a corrections officer seized a discovery packet out of safety concerns and that it happened to have notes on it written by Blizzard. No one read the notes or relayed the notes to anyone. As such, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Blizzard's motion to dismiss.

4. The Court of Appeals was correct in finding that the State presented sufficient evidence of authenticity to allow testimony regarding the contents of text messages.

The decision to admit evidence lies within the sound discretion of the trial court and should not be overturned absent a manifest abuse of discretion. *State v. Bourgeois*, 133 Wn.2d 389, 399, 945 P.2d 1120 (1997). An abuse of discretion exists "[w]hen a trial court's exercise of its discretion is manifestly unreasonable or based upon untenable grounds or reasons." *State v. Stenson*, 132 Wn.2d 668, 701, 940 P.2d 1239 (1997).

On appeal, Blizzard claimed that the court allowed testimony as to text messages for which a foundation was not laid. He never stated which

text messages lacked foundation. Jill Taylor, testified as to what Blizzard's phone number was (509-654-0283) and that AT&T was his cell phone company. RP 2457, 2462. She testified that she called Blizzard several times a day and texted him 20 times a day or more. RP 2457-8. She said that it was always to the same phone number. RP 2458. She looked at Exhibit 83, the extraction report, and testified that it contained conversations between Blizzard and her. RP 2459. She talked about specific text messages exchanged on January 13, 2013. RP 2465. This was more than enough to lay a foundation for the text messages.

Furthermore, Adriana Mendez testified that she also talked to Blizzard daily. RP 2780. She said that she texted Blizzard and that he used an app called "GOGII" for texting. RP 2574, 2779. While she was not able to remember his phone number, she was able to identify the conversation number and the messages. RP 2665.

Blizzard claims that he opinion below conflicts with *State v*.

Young, 192 Wn. App. 850, 369 P.3d 205 (2016). In *Young*, the court found that the trial did not abuse its discretion in admitting text messages. As noted in *Young*, the trial court "considers only the evidence offered by the proponent and disregards any contrary evidence offered by the opponent in determining whether evidence has been authenticated." 192 Wn. App. at 857. In *Young*, a witness's personal knowledge in connection

with the subject matter of the texts was sufficient evidence for a reasonable trier of fact to find that the texts came from Young. RP 858. As such, the texts were properly authenticated. *Id*.

In Blizzard's petition, he claims that testimony was allowed as to the content of text messages despite exhibit 86 being found inadmissible. Petition at 19-20. Exhibit 86 consists of call detail records for Ms. Mendez's phone number, 910-6581. It shows the date and times of calls. RP 2983. And it may show the date and time a text message or email was sent but only if the "dialed digits column" is blank or lists an e-mail. RP 3000.

But the content of the text messages were contained in Exhibit 83. RP 2459. Ms. Mendez relied on Exhibit 83 when she testified that it contained conversations between Blizzard and her. *Id.* That exhibit was admitted with the provision that it not go to the jury room. RP 1969, 1983, 1985. The fact that Exhibit 86 was not admitted is of no consequence to the testimony regarding text messages because Exhibit 83 was admitted. The prosecutor moved to admit Exhibit 86 solely for the purpose of further corroborating what was contained in Exhibit 72. RP 3001.

In sum, there is nothing to support the argument that allowing Ms.

Mendez to testify about test messages between her and Blizzard was a

manifest abuse of discretion. The State called numerous witnesses to

establish a solid foundation for the testimony that was admitted pertaining

to text messages. The report containing the messages, exhibit 83 was

properly admitted. Given the thorough record in this case, it cannot be

said that the trial court's exercise of its discretion was manifestly

unreasonable or based upon untenable grounds or reasons.

F. CONCLUSION

This case does not meet any of the criteria in RAP 13.4(b). First of

all, the decision is not in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court or

another decision of the Court of Appeals. Second, a significant question

of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United

States is not involved. Lastly, the petition does not involve an issue of

substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme

Court. As such, his petition for review should be denied.